
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLORADO

Civil Action No.:  10-cv-03135-RPM-MJW

TIMOTHY P. FOX,
JON JAIME LEWIS,
JULIE REISKIN, and 
COLORADO CROSS-DISABILITY COALITION, Colorado non-profit corporation,

Plaintiffs,

v.

MORREALE HOTELS, LLC., a Colorado limited liability company, and
SKETCH RESTAURANT, LLC d/b/a EL DIABLO, a Colorado limited liability company, 

Defendants.

SUPPLEMENTAL AND THIRD AMENDED COMPLAINT

Plaintiffs, by and through undersigned counsel, hereby submit this Supplemental and

Third Amended Complaint for violations of Title III of the Americans with Disabilities Act

(“ADA”), 42 U.S.C. § 12181, et seq.

INTRODUCTION

1. The ADA was enacted in 1990 “[t]o establish a clear and comprehensive

prohibition of discrimination on the basis of disability.”  42 U.S.C. § 12101(b)(1).  Twenty years

after the passage of the ADA, Defendants discriminate against individuals who use wheelchairs 

for mobility.  

2. The ADA prohibits the owners and operators of places of public
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accommodations, such as the restaurant, El Diablo, from providing individuals who use

wheelchairs separate, segregated or unequal benefits and services.  42 U.S.C. § 12182(b).

3. Defendant Morreale Hotels LLC (“Morreale”) owns the space in which the El

Diablo restaurant is located.  Defendant Sketch Restaurants LLC, d/b/a El Diablo (“El Diablo”)

operates the El Diablo Restaurant.  El Diablo is  located at 101 Broadway, Denver, Colorado

80203.

4. Prior to opening the restaurant in August 2010, Morreale, by and through its

contractors, performed alterations to the interior of the restaurant.

5. The alterations included adding elevated dining areas.

6. The elevated dining areas have fixed booths and tables on them that cannot be

accessed without using steps.

7. Even though the ADA requires that altered parts of buildings be fully accessible,

these elevated dining areas are not accessible to people who use wheelchairs.

8. El Diablo patrons who can walk have numerous seating options: they can sit at

tables on the elevated dining areas, at the bar, at booths, at fixed seating areas, or at “cocktail

stands” (a term used by Defendants, which were too high to be readily accessible to and usable

by individuals who use wheelchairs).  None of these options are available to patrons who use

wheelchairs who wish to have an accessible dining surface.

9. Plaintiffs seek a court order requiring Defendants to make El Diablo’s entire area

open to the public and that was altered accessible to patrons who use wheelchairs, and recovery

of reasonable attorneys’ fees as a result of having to retain counsel and file this lawsuit to obtain
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compliance.

JURISDICTION

10. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C.

§§ 1331 and 1343.

11. Venue is proper within this District pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391.

PARTIES

12. Plaintiff Timothy P. Fox is substantially limited in the major life activity of

walking and uses a motorized wheelchair for mobility.

13. Plaintiff Fox is and was at all times pertinent hereto a resident of the State of

Colorado.

14. Plaintiff Fox is a member of the Colorado Cross-Disability Coalition.

15. Plaintiff Jon Jaime Lewis is substantially limited in the major life activity of

walking and uses a wheelchair for mobility.

16. Plaintiff Lewis is and was at all times pertinent hereto a resident of the State of

Colorado.

17. Plaintiff Lewis is a member of the Colorado Cross-Disability Coalition.

18. Plaintiff Julie Reiskin is substantially limited in the major life activity of walking

and uses a motorized wheelchair for mobility.

19. Plaintiff Reiskin is and was at all times pertinent hereto a resident of the State of

Colorado.

20. Plaintiff Reiskin is a member of the Colorado Cross-Disability Coalition.
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21. Plaintiff Colorado Cross-Disability Coalition is a non-profit, statewide, disability

rights advocacy organization.

22. Morreale is a Colorado limited liability company with its principal place of

business at 101 Broadway, Denver, Colorado.  Morreale owns the space in which the El Diablo

restaurant is located and leases the El Diablo space to Sketch.

23. Sketch is a Colorado limited liability company with its principal place of business

at 101 Broadway, Denver, Colorado 80203.  Sketch leases the space in which the El Diablo

restaurant is located, from Morreale.

GENERAL ALLEGATIONS

24. Defendant Sketch leases the space known as the El Diablo restaurant located at

the corner of First Avenue and Broadway in Denver, Colorado from Morreale (“Property”).

25. On information and belief, Defendant Morreale also does business as “M, Inc.” 

26. M, Inc. is listed as the “owner” of the El Diablo restaurant space in documents on

file with the City and County of Denver Community Planning and Development department.

27. M, Inc. is a Colorado corporation with its principal place of business at 3224 E.

7th Avenue Parkway, Denver , CO 80206.

28. Jesse Morreale is the principal officer of Sketch.

29. Jesse Morreale is the principal officer of Morreale.

30. Jesse Morreale is the principal officer of M, Inc.

31. The Property houses a hotel currently not in operation, a wine bar known as

Sketch, which is open to the public, and the restaurant known as El Diablo, which is open to the
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public.

32. Prior to opening the restaurant, Morreale, by and through its contractors,

completely gutted the interior of the first floor of the restaurant space now known as El Diablo.

33. Prior to opening the restaurant, Morreale, by and through its contractors,

demolished the interior of the first floor of the restaurant space now known as El Diablo.

34.  Prior to opening the restaurant, Morreale, by and through its contractors, made

alterations to the interior of the first floor of the restaurant space now known as El Diablo.

35. Defendants’ alterations included the addition of two elevated dining areas within

the El Diablo restaurant.

36. These elevated dining areas are only accessible by steps.

37. The elevated dining areas are inaccessible to individuals who use wheelchairs.

38. It was feasible for Defendants to have altered the dining areas without adding

inaccessible raised seating areas.

39. The raised seating areas did not exist prior to the alterations performed by the

Defendants.

40. Defendants’ alterations included the installation of a bar that has no portion where

customers are served that is lower than or equal to thirty-four inches above the finish floor.

41. Defendants’ alterations included installing a fixed raised seating area near the bar

which is higher than thirty-six inches.

42. Defendants’ alterations included the installation of new restrooms.

43. Defendants’ alterations included the installation of an outdoor seating area.
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44. Defendants’ alterations resulting in the installation of the outdoor seating area on

the South side of the restaurant occurred after September 3, 2010.

45. Plaintiff Fox’s law firm, Fox & Robertson, P.C., is located in the office building

across the street from the El Diablo restaurant on Broadway in Denver.

46. Mr. Fox looked forward to the opening of El Diablo because it is close to his

office and would be convenient for him, his co-workers, colleagues, clients, and acquaintances.

47. During the time that El Diablo was being altered, Mr. Fox encountered a person

who identified himself as a contractor standing outside of the Property, and the door was open. 

Mr. Fox realized that the elevated dining areas in the restaurant had been constructed but did not

provide wheelchair access.  Mr. Fox informed the contractor that the elevated dining areas did

not comply with the ADA and the contractor said that he would pass the message along to the

owner.

48. El Diablo opened to the public on or about August 20, 2010.

49. On September 3, 2010, Mr. Fox attempted to dine at El Diablo, but realized that

the elevated dining areas, the bar and the fixed raised seating area were inaccessible to customers

who use wheelchairs.

50. On September 3, 2010, inside the restaurant Mr. Fox observed El Diablo had only

two lowered tables on the street level (a term used by Defendants).  All other available seating

locations were on the elevated dining areas, at the bar, at a fixed raised seating area or at cocktail

stands.  These tables were located on the North side of the restaurant against the wall in between

the North side elevated dining area and the East side windows along Broadway.

6

Case 1:10-cv-03135-RPM -MJW   Document 126    Filed 09/29/11   USDC Colorado   Page 6 of
 27



51. On September 3, 2010, inside the restaurant Mr. Fox observed that all seating

options in the restaurant were readily accessible to and usable by  non-disabled patrons,

including those on the elevated dining areas, those at the bar, those at the fixed raised seating

area and those at the cocktail stands.

52. Mr. Fox desires to patronize El Diablo when he and his disabled friends and

colleagues have the same seating choices as all other patrons.

53. On multiple occasions, Mr. Fox has contacted Defendants, by phone and in

writing, offering to meet with them to try to convince them to make El Diablo accessible.

54. When a City official from the Denver Office of Disability Rights contacted Mr.

Morreale regarding El Diablo and Mr. Fox’s concerns, Mr. Morreale finally suggested meeting.

55. Mr. Fox proposed several dates in December of 2010 for Mr. Morreale.

56. Mr. Morreale never responded to Mr. Fox’s December 2010 request for a

meeting.

57. By altering the restaurant to create inaccessible elevated dining areas where they

did not exist before, Defendants have discriminated against Mr. Fox and patrons who use

wheelchairs.

58. By altering the restaurant to create a bar that is inaccessible when there are no

other accessible tables in the same area sharing the same decor, Defendants have discriminated

against Mr. Fox and patrons who use wheelchairs.

59. Despite Mr. Fox’s continuous and ongoing efforts to request Defendants remedy

these violations of the ADA, Defendants refuse to do so.
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60. Mr. Fox has been denied the full and equal enjoyment of Defendants’ goods,

services, privileges, facilities and accommodations.

61. Mr. Fox would like to dine at El Diablo, and would like to be able to do so with

friends and colleagues who use wheelchairs or scooters.

62. Mr. Fox will dine -- and will invite his friends and colleagues who use

wheelchairs to dine with him -- at El Diablo if Defendants remedy the barriers to accessibility.

63. Mr. Fox has been deterred from dining at El Diablo because of the barriers to

accessibility and unequal treatment.

64. In the absence of an injunction compelling Defendants to bring its restaurant into

compliance, Defendants will continue to discriminate against individuals who use wheelchairs,

including Mr. Fox.

65. Mr. Fox has been harmed by Defendants’ discrimination and, in the absence of

the injunction sought herein, will continue to be discriminated against by Defendants.

66. Mr. Lewis’ disability results from post polio syndrome.

67. Mr. Lewis has required the use of a wheelchair for ambulation most of his life.

68. Mr. Lewis has been a paid staff person at CCDC, but he is currently a volunteer.

69. Mr. Lewis has been a member of CCDC and has been employed by and/or

volunteered for CCDC for many years.

70. Part of Mr. Lewis’ duties include being CCDC’s community liaison.

71. CCDC’s offices are located at 655 Broadway, approximately five blocks from El

Diablo.
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72. Mr. Lewis can roll from CCDC’s office to El Diablo in his wheelchair without

needing to use the Regional Transportation District’s (“RTD”) public transportation.

73. Mr. Lewis is also an ordained pastor with his church.

74. Part of Mr. Lewis’ duties include meeting with and counseling members of his

congregation.

75. During the summer of 2010, Mr. Lewis was a cast member in a production of

“How to Succeed in Business Without Really Trying,” produced and performed by the

Denver-based Physically Handicapped Artists and Musical Actors League (“PHAMALy”).

PHAMALy is comprised of artists and actors with disabilities, including those who use

wheelchairs.  Mr. Lewis would have liked to invite his fellow cast members to El Diablo but was

deterred from doing so because of barriers to accessibility at the restaurant.

76. At all times material to this litigation, Mr. Lewis has resided in downtown

Denver.

77. Mr. Lewis uses the RTD’s wheelchair accessible public transportation to get to

and from work and to go elsewhere.

78. Mr. Lewis is moving to a different apartment soon, which will be close in

proximity to El Diablo.

79. Mr. Lewis enjoys meeting friends and colleagues outside of the office on

occasion, and, because he relies on public transportation, prefers restaurants that are within

rolling distance of CCDC’s office.

80. Many of Mr. Lewis’ friends, colleagues and co-workers use wheelchairs.
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81. On June 6, 2011, Mr. Lewis went to El Diablo with a colleague for lunch.

82. On June 6, 2011, Mr. Lewis immediately realized that there were two elevated

dining areas in the restaurant that were not readily accessible to and usable by him.  Because of

the steps leading to the two elevated dining areas, the tables on them were not readily accessible

to and usable by him.

83. On June 6, 2011, Mr. Lewis and his colleague were seated at 1 of the 2 lowered,

free-standing tables on the Street Level.

84. On June 6, 2011, these 2 tables were segregated in the Northeast corner of the

restaurant.

85. On the Street Level, there were 4 cocktail stands adjacent to the East side of the

restaurant near the windows along Broadway.

86. The bar and the elevated dining areas occupy most of the available seating

options.

87. On June 6, 2011, inside the restaurant Mr. Lewis observed that all seating options

in the restaurant were readily accessible to and usable by non-disabled patrons, including those

on the elevated dining areas, those at the bar, those at the fixed raised seating area and those at

the cocktail stands.

88. By altering the restaurant to create inaccessible elevated dining areas where they

did not exist before, Defendants have discriminated against Mr. Lewis and patrons who use

wheelchairs.

89. By placing cocktail stands on the Street Level, Defendants further deny
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individuals who use wheelchairs, including Mr. Lewis, the full and equal enjoyment of El

Diablo’s dining areas.

90. On June 6, 2011, Mr. Lewis observed that inside the restaurant, only the two

lowered, free-standing two tables might accommodate an individual who uses a wheelchair.

91. On June 6, 2011, while seated inside El Diablo, Mr. Lewis noticed several people

being seated at the outdoor seating area.

92. On June 6, 2011, Mr. Lewis observed individuals who were walking being seated

at the outdoor seating area walking through the inside of El Diablo through a door and down a

step to access the outdoor seating area.

93. On June 6, 2011, Mr. Lewis noticed that the outdoor seating area had a gate.

94. On June 6, 2011, Mr. Lewis observed that it would be difficult for him to sit in

the outdoor seating area without blocking access for other patrons or employees to the gate or to

other tables unless other tables were moved or removed.

95. Mr. Lewis prefers to not have to ask staff to move tables when he is dining by

himself or with friends.

96. Mr. Lewis desires to patronize El Diablo when he and his disabled friends and

colleagues have the same seating choices as all other patrons.

97. Mr. Lewis has been denied the full and equal enjoyment of Defendants’ goods,

services, privileges, facilities and accommodations.

98. Mr. Lewis would like to dine at El Diablo, and would like to be able to do so with

friends and colleagues who use wheelchairs or scooters.
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99. Mr. Lewis will dine -- and will invite his friends and colleagues who use

wheelchairs to dine with him -- at El Diablo if Defendants remedy the barriers to accessibility.

100. Mr. Lewis has been deterred from dining at El Diablo because of the barriers to

accessibility and unequal treatment.

101. Mr. Lewis has been deterred from inviting his friends and colleagues who use

wheelchairs from dining with him at El Diablo.

102. Ms. Reiskin has multiple sclerosis.

103. Ms. Reiskin has required the use of a wheelchair for ambulation most of her adult

life.

104. Ms. Reiskin is the Executive Director of CCDC.

105. Ms. Reiskin has been the Executive Director of CCDC for at least fifteen years.

106. As an appointee of President Barack Obama, Ms. Reiskin also serves as a member

of the Legal Services Corporation of America board.

107. As the Executive Director of the Colorado Cross-Disability Coalition, Ms.

Reiskin is frequently responsible for organizing and facilitating meetings in restaurants in the

downtown Denver area.

108. Because she relies on public transportation, Ms. Reiskin prefers restaurants that

are within rolling distance of CCDC’s office.

109. Ms. Reiskin can easily roll to El Diablo from her office to El Diablo.

110. El Diablo’s location at First Avenue is also easy to get to from public

transportation stops.
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111. On June 6, 2011, Ms. Reiskin went to El Diablo to see if it would be a suitable

meeting area for CCDC events and meetings.

112. Ms. Reiskin and CCDC teach that equal services for individuals with disabilities,

not special privileges, are what are required by law and what most individuals with disabilities

want and prefer.

113. On June 6, 2011, while inside El Diablo, Ms. Reiskin immediately realized that

there were two elevated dining seating areas, one on the South Side and one on the North side El

Diablo that were not readily accessible to and usable by her and individuals who use wheelchairs

because they were accessible only by two steps.

114. On June 6, 2011, Ms. Reiskin observed the arrangement of tables and chairs in the

restaurant was as described by Mr. Lewis’ allegations.

115. Ms. Reiskin prefers that dining areas be accessible without any specialized

service.

116. On June 6, 2011, inside the restaurant Ms. Reiskin observed that all seating

options in the restaurant were readily accessible to and usable by  non-disabled patrons,

including those on the elevated dining areas, those at the bar, those at the fixed raised seating

area and those at the cocktail stands.

117. On June 6, 2011, Ms. Reiskin was taken out through the front door of El Diablo to

the gate entrance of the outdoor seating area, and was seated at the table closest to the gate.

118. On June 6, 2011, Ms. Reiskin observed the table at which she sat was the only

table in the outdoor seating area that was readily accessible to and usable by her without moving
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tables and/or asking other customers to move.

119. On June 6, 2011, the El Diablo employee offered to move tables around in the

outdoor seating area to accommodate Ms. Reiskin.

120. On June 6, 2011, Ms. Reiskin did not want the employee to have to move tables

around so she could sit and order a refreshment.

121. Ms. Reiskin does not like the attention of other patrons when she goes out to eat,

which, in her experience, always happens when tables and chairs are moved around.

122. On June 6, 2011, Ms. Reiskin did not want to disrupt anyone else’s meal so tables

and chairs could be moved around.

123. On June 6, 2011, if tables had been moved, doing so would have disrupted other

customers who were seated in the outdoor dining area.

124. On June 6, 2011, while Ms. Reiskin was seated in the outdoor seating area, no

other patrons entered or exited through the gate.

125. On June 6, 2011, Ms. Reiskin observed that it would be very difficult for someone

to move through the gate with her sitting where she was without her having to move her

wheelchair or being bumped.

126. On June 6, 2011, Ms. Reiskin observed there was insufficient room for another

person using a wheelchair to enter or exit the outdoor seating area without Ms. Reiskin having to

move.

127. On June 6, 2011, there was insufficient room in the patio seating area for Ms.

Reiskin and another person using a wheelchair to sit together without rearranging or removing
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tables and chairs.

128. On June 6, 2011, Ms. Reiskin worried that she would be in the way of other

patrons.

129. Ms. Reiskin is very adverse to being bumped or jostled in her wheelchair,

particularly from behind and while eating.

130. On June 6, 2011, while seated outside, Ms. Reiskin observed other individuals

being seated in the outdoor seating area.  When the individuals left the outdoor seating area, Ms.

Reiskin observed the individuals walking through the inside of El Diablo, up a step into the

restaurant.

131. The step from the outdoor seating area is not accessible to individuals who use

wheelchairs, including Ms. Reiskin.

132. Ms. Reiskin observed that the gate was the only means of accessing the outdoor

seating area for a person using a wheelchair.

133. Ms. Reiskin desires to patronize El Diablo when she and her disabled friends and

colleagues have the same seating choices as all other patrons, and that complies with the

accessibility requirements of federal law.

134. Ms. Reiskin was denied the full and equal enjoyment of Defendants’ goods,

services, privileges, facilities and accommodations.

135. Ms. Reiskin would like to and will dine at El Diablo, and would like to be able to

do so with friends and colleagues who use wheelchairs or scooters.

136. If El Diablo provided full and equal access to individuals who use wheelchairs,
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Ms. Reiskin believes it would be a very good location for CCDC events, meetings and social

gatherings. Its location alone is very appealing.

137. Ms. Reiskin would like to and will schedule and host meetings and social

gatherings at El Diablo, and would like to be able to do so with colleagues and potential

funders/grantors who use wheelchairs or scooters.

138. Ms. Reiskin will dine -- and will invite her friends and schedule and host

meetings with colleagues who use wheelchairs to dine with her -- at El Diablo if Defendants

remedy the barriers to accessibility.

139. Ms. Reiskin has been deterred from dining at El Diablo because of the barriers to

accessibility and unequal treatment.

140. Ms. Reiskin has been deterred from inviting her friends, colleagues who use

wheelchairs from dining with her at El Diablo.

141. As a result of her experience at El Diablo, Ms. Reiskin has alerted CCDC

members about El Diablo’s access problems.

142. CCDC is a membership organization having members who use wheelchairs

throughout the state of Colorado.

143. CCDC has members who use wheelchairs who have experienced and/or are likely

to experience barriers to accessibility at El Diablo.

144. CCDC’s purpose is to work for systemic change that promotes independence,

self-reliance, and full inclusion for people with disabilities in the entire community. As part of

that purpose, CCDC seeks to ensure that persons with disabilities have access to -- and do not
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encounter discrimination in -- the goods, services, facilities, privileges, advantages, or

accommodations provided by places of public accommodation.

145. CCDC engages in extensive outreach as well as advocacy and educational efforts

to promote access for and combat discrimination against people with disabilities.  This effort and

this purpose have been and continue to be adversely affected by the Defendants’ violations of the

laws cited herein.

146. As set forth in this Complaint, Defendants’ discrimination has been and continues

to be a barrier to the full participation of persons with disabilities and, therefore, frustrates

CCDC’s ability to achieve full inclusion for persons with disabilities.

147. CCDC’s injuries -- including, without limitation, those described herein -- are

traceable to Defendants’ discriminatory conduct alleged in this Complaint and will be redressed

by the relief requested in it.

148. The elimination of discrimination, such as that of Defendants, and the integration

of persons with disabilities into all aspects of community life are at the core of CCDC’s

organizational purpose.

149. The participation of individual CCDC members in the lawsuit is not required

either to resolve the claims at issue or to formulate relief.

150. Defendants maintain and/or engage in policies, practices and procedures that

violate the ADA.

151. Defendants have performed alterations to El Diablo that do not comply with the

ADA.
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152. It was feasible for Defendants to perform or cause the alterations to El Diablo to

be performed in such a manner that the altered portions provide ready access to individuals with

disabilities, including individuals who use wheelchairs or motorized scooters for mobility.

153. It was feasible for Defendants to not undertake alterations to El Diablo that

created barriers that are not readily accessible to and usable by individuals who use wheelchairs.

154. On August 16, 2011, the parties and counsel conducted an inspection of the El

Diablo restaurant.

155. During the inspection of the El Diablo restaurant on August 16, 2011, there were

44 bar stools at the bar.

156. The bar is higher than 34 inches to the top all the way around.

157. There are two elevated dining areas at El Diablo: One on the South wall of the

restaurant and one on the North wall of the restaurant.

158. During the inspection of the El Diablo restaurant on August 16, 2011, there were

8 tables on the elevated dining area on the South wall of the restaurant that had 30 chairs with

the tables: 7 tables had 4 chairs each, and 1 table had 2 chairs.

159. During the inspection of the El Diablo restaurant on August 16, 2011, the

following conditions existed on the North side elevated dining area: (1) There were 8 fixed

booths, each of which had five place settings; (2) there was 1 table with 4 chairs; (3) there were 3

tables with 2 chairs; (4) the total of number chairs plus booth seating locations was 50.

160. During the inspection of the El Diablo restaurant on August 16, 2011, the fixed

raised seating area near the bar which is higher than thirty-six inches had 12 bar stools on it.
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161. During the inspection of the El Diablo restaurant on August 16, 2011, on the

street level, there were 4 tables adjacent to the windows on the East side of the restaurant with

surfaces measuring 29 inches high to the top, each having 4 chairs.  

162. During the inspection of the El Diablo restaurant on August 16, 2011, there were

3 tables just to the North of the tables referenced in the previous paragraph with surfaces

measuring 29 inches to the top, each having 2 chairs.  

163. During the inspection of the El Diablo restaurant on August 16, 2011, on the

street level, there was a table on the far North side located in the bay window with a surface

measuring 29 inches to the top, which had 2 chairs.

164. During the inspection of the El Diablo restaurant on August 16, 2011, on what

Defendants refer to as the Street level, there were 2 tables on the far North side located between

the table referenced in the previous paragraph and the North side elevated dining area  with a

surface measuring 29 inches to the top, each having 4 chairs.

165. During the inspection of the El Diablo restaurant on August 16, 2011, the area

between the tables referenced in paragraphs 186 and 187 provided insufficient room for an

individual using a wheelchair without moving or removing one of the tables.

166. During the inspection of the El Diablo restaurant on August 16, 2011, the total

number of chairs and seating locations on the elevated dining areas was 80.

167. During the inspection of the El Diablo restaurant on August 16, 2011, the total

number of chairs and seating locations on the inaccessible elevated dining areas plus the stools at

the inaccessible bar plus the stools at the inaccessible fixed raised seating area was 136.
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168. During the inspection of the El Diablo restaurant on August 16, 2011, the total

number of chairs on the street level was 32.

169. When Plaintiffs Fox, Lewis and Reiskin were in the El Diablo restaurant, there

were cocktail stands located adjacent to the windows on the East side of the restaurant.

170. On information and belief, each cocktail stand has four seating locations.

171. When Plaintiffs Fox, Lewis and Reiskin were in the El Diablo restaurant, there

were only two lowered tables with 4 chairs each available on the Street Level.  All other dining

areas -- the elevated dining areas, the bar, the fixed raised seating area and the cocktail stands --

were not and are not readily accessible to and usable by Plaintiffs.

172. The two tables referenced in the previous paragraph were directly adjacent to the

North side wall of the restaurant and in the Northeast corner of the restaurant.

173. On information and belief, it is common for there to be only two or three lowered

tables in the restaurant on the Street Level located on the far North side of the restaurant.

174. During the inspection on August 16, 2011, there was insufficient clear floor space

for an individual using a wheelchair to be able to access and sit at one of the three lowered tables

without moving one of the other tables.

175. During the inspection on August 16, 2011, in the women’s restroom, the

placement of the trash can impeded the clear floor space for accessing the sink. 

176. During the inspection on August 16, 2011, in the women’s restroom, the paper

towel dispenser controls were higher than 54 inches.

177. During the inspection on August 16, 2011, in the women's restroom, the bottom
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edge of the mirror reflecting surface was mounted higher than 40 inches above the finish floor.

178. During the inspection on August 16, 2011, in the women’s restroom, a lock on the

stall door was higher than 55 inches above the finish floor.

179. During the inspection on August 16, 2011, in the women’s restroom, the handles

on the stall doors were higher than 54 inches.

180. During the inspection on August 16, 2011, in the women's restroom, a clothes

hook was higher than 54 inches.

181. During the inspection on August 16, 2011, in the men’s restroom, the controls of

the men’s paper towel dispenser control was higher than 54 inches.

182. During the inspection on August 16, 2011, in the men’s restroom, the bottom of

the edge of the mirror reflecting surface was mounted higher than 40 inches above the finish

floor.

183. During the inspection on August 16, 2011, in the men’s restroom, the lock on the

stall door was 54 inches in height.

184. During the inspection on August 16, 2011, in the men’s restroom, the handles on

the stall door was higher than 54 inches.

185. During the inspection on August 16, 2011, in the men’s restroom, the water closet

seat was lower than the required range of 17 to 19 inches.

186. During the inspection on August 16, 2011, the furniture in the outdoor seating

area was not set up.  However, it appears from the available space, the dimensions of the seats

and tables, and Ms. Reiskin’s experience that there is insufficient space in the outdoor seating
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area to make it accessible to patrons who use wheelchairs. 

187. El Diablo provides a Late Night Takeout Window for customers to get takeout

food when the restaurant is closed.  The takeout area is accessible only by one step.

188. El Diablo’s takeout area is not accessible to individuals who use wheelchairs.

189. Defendants have discriminated against individuals who use wheelchairs.

FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF
(Violations of Title III of the Americans with Disabilities Act, 42 U.S.C. § 12181 et seq.)

190.  Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by reference all allegations set forth in this

Complaint as fully set forth herein.

191. Title III of the ADA prohibits discrimination “on the basis of disability in the full

and equal enjoyment of the goods, services, facilities, privileges, advantages, or accommodations

of any place of public accommodation by any person who owns, leases (or leases to), or operates

a place of public accommodation.”  42 U.S.C. § 12182(a).

192. El Diablo is a public accommodation.  See 42 U.S.C. § 12181(7)(B).

193. Defendant Sketch leases the space where El Diablo is located and operates El

Diablo.

194. Defendant Morreale owns the space that is the restaurant known as El Diablo.

195. Defendant Morreale leases the space that is the restaurant known as El Diablo to

Defendant Sketch.

196. Defendants do not provide individuals who use wheelchairs with full and equal

enjoyment of the restaurant.

197. It is also unlawful under the ADA to provide an individual with a disability or
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class of individuals with disabilities with goods, services, facilities, privileges and

accommodations that are unequal to or separated from those afforded to non-disabled

individuals, and services for individuals with disabilities are to be provided in the most

“integrated setting.”  42 U.S.C. § 12182(b)(1)(A) & (B).

198. El Diablo’s inaccessible dining areas do not provide individuals who use

wheelchairs equal, integrated seating.

199. For example, when Plaintiffs visited the restaurant, there were 25 tables, and 160

seating locations, accessible to nondisabled patrons inside the restaurant.  These seating

locations provided nondisabled patrons with a variety of options, including seats at the bar, at

booths, in the raised seating area facing First Avenue, in the raised seating are facing Broadway,

at the raised fixed table near the bar, at lowered tables and at cocktail tables.  These seating areas

were dispersed throughout the restaurant.

200. By contrast, Plaintiffs’ options consisted of two tables and eight seating locations

segregated in one small area of the restaurant.

201. Under Title III, discrimination includes “a failure to make alterations in such a

manner that, to the maximum extent feasible, the altered portions of a facility are readily

accessible to and usable by individuals with disabilities, including individuals who use

wheelchairs.”  42 U.S.C. § 12183(a)(2).

202. As the regulations implementing Title III explain, “an alteration is a change to a

place of public accommodation or a commercial facility that affects or could affect the usability

of the building or facility or any part thereof.”  28 C.F.R. § 36.402(b).
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203. The regulations further clarify that, “[t]he phrase ‘readily accessible to and usable

by individuals with disabilities’ . . . means, with respect to a facility or a portion of a facility, that

it can be approached, entered, and used by individuals with disabilities (including mobility . . .

impairments) easily and conveniently.”  28 C.F.R. pt. 36, App. B.

204. In addition, the regulations instruct:

The phrase ‘to the maximum extent feasible,’ as used in this section, applies to
the occasional case where the nature of an existing facility makes it virtually
impossible to comply fully with applicable accessibility standards through a
planned alteration.  In these circumstances, the alteration shall provide the
maximum physical accessibility feasible.  Any altered features of the facility that
can be made accessible shall be made accessible.  

28 C.F.R. § 36.402(c). 

205. The regulations further prescribe specific accessibility standards for alterations in

restaurants. See 28 C.F.R. § 36.406(a) (“[A]lterations subject to this part shall comply with the

standards for accessible design published as appendix A to this part (ADAAG).”).

206. ADAAG § 4.1.6 reads as follows:

General.  Alterations to existing buildings and facilities shall comply with the following:

(a) No alteration shall be undertaken which decreases or has the effect of decreasing
accessibility or usability of a building or facility below the requirements for new
construction at the time of alteration.

(b) If existing elements, spaces, or common areas are altered, then each such altered
element, space, feature, or area shall comply with the applicable provisions of 4.1.1 to
4.1.3 Minimum Requirements (for New Construction). 

(c) If alterations of single elements, when considered together, amount to an alteration of
a room or space in a building or facility, the entire space shall be made accessible.

. . .
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207. Defendants made alterations to the space that is the restaurant known as El Diablo

that included installing the bar.

208. Defendants made alterations to the space that is the restaurant known as El Diablo

that included installing the elevated dining areas.

209. Defendants made alterations to the space that is the restaurant known as El Diablo

that included installing the fixed raised seating area.

210. Defendants made alterations to the space that is the restaurant known as El Diablo

that included installing the public restrooms.

211. All of Defendants’ alterations to the space that is the restaurant known as El

Diablo took place after 1992.

212. The elevated dining areas are not readily accessible to and usable by individuals

who use wheelchairs, including Mr. Fox, Mr. Lewis, Ms. Reiskin.

213. The installation of the elevated dining areas violates ADAAG § 4.1.6.

214. The bar is not readily accessible to and usable by individuals who use

wheelchairs.

215. The raised seating area near the bar is not readily accessible to and usable by

individuals who use wheelchairs.

216. Cocktail stands are not readily accessible to and usable by individuals who use

wheelchairs.

217. “In new construction, and where practicable in alterations, accessible fixed tables

(or counters) shall be distributed throughout the space or facility.”  ADAAG § 5.1.
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218. “Where fixed tables . . . are provided, at least 5 percent, but not less than one, of

the fixed tables . . . shall be accessible and shall comply with 4.32 as required in 4.1.3(18).”  Id.

219. El Diablo has no accessible fixed tables or counters.

220. Defendants have discriminated against individuals who use wheelchairs,

including Mr. Fox, Mr. Lewis, Ms. Reiskin and other members of CCDC who use wheelchairs or

motorized scooters, as set forth in this Complaint.

221. Mr. Fox, Mr. Lewis, Ms. Reiskin and CCDC have been injured, and, in the

absence of the injunction sought herein, will continue to be injured by Defendants’

discrimination.

222. CCDC’s members have been injured, and, in the absence of the injunction sought

herein, will continue to be injured by Defendants’ discrimination.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully prays:

1. That this Court assume jurisdiction;

2. that this Court issue an injunction ordering Defendants to comply with the ADA;

3. that this Court award Plaintiffs’ reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs; and 

4. that this Court award such additional or alternative relief as may be just, proper

and equitable.

JURY DEMAND:  Plaintiffs requests a trial to the Court.
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Dated: August 31, 2011 Respectfully submitted,

COLORADO CROSS-DISABILITY COALITION
LEGAL PROGRAM

/s/ Kevin W. Williams
                                                                   Kevin W. Williams

Andrew C. Montoya
655 Broadway, Suite 775
Denver, CO 80203
Telephone: (720) 336-3584
Facsimile: (303) 839-1782
E-mail: kwilliams@ccdconline.org
E-mail: amontoya@ccdconline.org

Attorneys for Plaintiffs

Address of Plaintiff Timothy P. Fox:

104 Broadway, Suite 400
Denver, Colorado 80203

Address of Plaintiff Jon Jaime Lewis:

1825 Arapahoe Street, Apt. 313
Denver, CO 80202

Address of Plaintiff Julie Reiskin:

3645 Milwaukee Street
Denver, CO 80205

Address of Plaintiff Colorado Cross-Disability Coalition:

655 Broadway, Suite 775
Denver, CO 80203
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